

Thomas Jefferson University Jefferson Digital Commons

Department of Radiation Oncology Faculty Papers

Department of Radiation Oncology

12-1-2020

A systematic review of home-based dietary interventions during radiation therapy for cancer.

Taylor H Allenby Penn State Cancer Institute

Megan L Crenshaw
Penn State Cancer Institute

Katlynn Mathis
Penn State College of Medicine

Colin E Champ

Duke University School of Medicine

Nicole L Simone

Thomas Jefferson University Follow this and additional works at: https://jdc.jefferson.edu/radoncfp

Part of the Oncology Commons, and the Radiation Medicine Commons

<u> Letens with the land of this document benefits you</u>

Recommended Citation

Allenby, Taylor H; Crenshaw, Megan L; Mathis, Katlynn; Champ, Colin E; Simone, Nicole L; Schmitz, Kathryn H; Tchelebi, Leila T; and Zaorsky, Nicholas G, "A systematic review of home-based dietary interventions during radiation therapy for cancer." (2020). *Department of Radiation Oncology Faculty Papers*. Paper 137.

https://jdc.jefferson.edu/radoncfp/137

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Jefferson Digital Commons. The Jefferson Digital Commons is a service of Thomas Jefferson University's Center for Teaching and Learning (CTL). The Commons is a showcase for Jefferson books and journals, peer-reviewed scholarly publications, unique historical collections from the University archives, and teaching tools. The Jefferson Digital Commons allows researchers and interested readers anywhere in the world to learn about and keep up to date with Jefferson scholarship. This article has been accepted for inclusion in Department of Radiation Oncology Faculty Papers by an authorized administrator of the Jefferson Digital Commons. For more information, please contact: JeffersonDigitalCommons@jefferson.edu.

uthors	
aylor H Allenby, Megan L Crensha eila T Tchelebi, and Nicholas G Z	aw, Katlynn Mathis, Colin E Champ, Nicole L Simone, Kathryn H Schm Zaorsky



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Technical Innovations & Patient Support in Radiation Oncology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tipsro



Review article

A systematic review of home-based dietary interventions during radiation therapy for cancer



Taylor H. Allenby ^{a,1}, Megan L. Crenshaw ^{a,1}, Katlynn Mathis ^{b,1}, Colin E. Champ ^c, Nicole L. Simone ^d, Kathryn H. Schmitz ^b, Leila T. Tchelebi ^a, Nicholas G. Zaorsky ^{a,b,*}

- ^a Department of Radiation Oncology, Penn State Cancer Institute, Hershey, PA, USA
- ^b Department of Public Health Sciences, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, USA
- ^c Department of Radiation Oncology, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, USA
- ^d Department of Radiation Oncology, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 April 2020 Received in revised form 6 August 2020 Accepted 7 August 2020 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Radiotherapy Cancer Dietary intervention Toxicity Quality of life

ABSTRACT

Purpose: Our objectives are to assess (1) the acceptability and feasibility of dietary interventions for patients undergoing radiation therapy (RT), and (2) the impact of dietary interventions on patient reported outcomes, toxicities, and survival.

Methods: A PICOS/PRISMA/MOOSE selection protocol was used to include articles that evaluate adding dietary interventions to patients receiving RT. Acceptability was defined as (# accepting/# approached); feasibility was (# completing/# approached). Patient-reported outcomes were reported based on questionnaires used in each study and survival was measured from the date of diagnosis until death in each study. Level of evidence was assessed with Center for Evidence-Based Medicine (CEBM) criteria.

Results: Sixteen articles were included; among these, 2027 patients were approached regarding the intervention, and 1661 accepted (81.9%); of these, 1543 (92.9%) completed the prescribed diet + RT course. The most common cancers included were gynecological, head and neck, and gastrointestinal. For patients with pelvic cancers, a high fiber diet may improve diarrhea (CEBM level 1b). Enteral nutrition formula, including formulas with proteins such as L-arginine, lipids such as eicosapentaenoic acids, glucids, and ribonucleotides, may help prevent of malnutrition in head and neck cancer patients undergoing RT (level 2b). Vitamin C and β -carotene may reduce of xerostomia in head and neck cancer patients; however, the studies evaluating these vitamins included vitamin E; which increases all-cause mortality (level 2b). No dietary intervention for cancer patients receiving RT has been shown to improve survival.

Conclusion: There are limited data to support safe and efficacious use of dietary interventions during RT.

© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of European Society for Radiotherapy & Oncology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

Introduction	. 11
Methods	. 11
Literature selection	. 11
Data abstraction and analysis.	. 11
Assessment of the risk of bias	. 13
Results	. 13
Studies and patients	. 13
Objective 1: Acceptability and feasibility of dietary interventions for patients receiving RT	. 13
Objective 2: Patient reported outcomes, toxicity, and survival of patients receiving dietary interventions during RT	. 13
Outcomes of interest	14

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Radiation Oncology, Penn State Cancer Institute, 500 University Drive, Hershey, PA 17033, USA. *E-mail addresses*: nicholaszaorsky@gmail.com, nzaorsky@pennstatehealth.psu.edu (N.G. Zaorsky).

¹ Contributed equally.

Outcomes as a function of dietary intervention type	14
Outcomes as a function of disease site	14
Survival	14
Discussion	14
Conclusion	
Declaration of Competing Interest	15
Appendix A. Supplementary material	16
References	16

Introduction

In 2019, an estimated 1,762,450 new cases of cancer will be diagnosed in the United States [1]. Radiation therapy (RT) is used in 60% of cancer patients, and is associated with acutely proinflammatory toxicities known to negatively impact patient quality of life (QOL), including dermatitis, esophagitis, gastritis, diarrhea, and cystitis. Increased fatigue and poor QOL are surrogates of survival [2,3]; further, RT may increase fatigue and worsen QOL. For patients receiving RT, if QOL can be improved, then overall survival may increase as well.

Since the early 2000s, there has been an increased focus on the use of dietary interventions to decrease toxicities and improve outcomes of cancer patients [4]. For patients receiving RT, certain dietary interventions are hypothesized to minimize toxicity, while increasing cancer cell death, thereby widening the therapeutic window, potentially improving survival [5,6]. As of 2019, there are no recommendations from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), the American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO), or the European Society for Radiation Oncology (ESTRO) regarding the integration of dietary changes in the treatment regimen for cancer patients undergoing RT [7]. There are, however, recommendations for clinical practice made by the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics.

The purpose of this paper is to synthesize the evidence regarding dietary interventions for cancer patients receiving RT. Specifically, we focus on interventions on the level of macromolecules (i.e. changes in dietary fat/carbohydrate/protein/fiber levels) and micromolecules, such as vitamins. Our objectives are to assess (1) the acceptability, feasibility, and safety of dietary interventions for patients undergoing RT, and (2) the impact of dietary interventions on patient reported outcomes and toxicities related to RT. We provide summary recommendations of all dietary interventions. The results of this work may be used to supplement the guidelines of the NCCN, ASTRO, ESTRO, and the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics [8].

Methods

Literature selection

The Population, Intervention, Control, Outcome, Study (PICOS) design approach was used to define the inclusion criteria (Supplementary Table 1). Additionally, a systematic search using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) literature selection process was conducted (Supplementary Fig. 1).

We searched for full-text medical literature (excluding abstracts) with human subjects from 1960 to 2018 in PubMed for the terms [("cancer" and ("radiation therapy" or "radiotherapy") and ("diet" or "nutrition" or "food" or "supplement" or "vitamin")]. The terms were in titles or in MeSH headings. After identifying 389 articles initially, three authors (TA, MC, KM)

screened each study and excluded any with the following features: (1) full manuscripts that could not be obtained or were not available online, (2) duplicate or updated studies (in which case the most recent version was used), (3) not written in English, (4) lacking patient reported outcomes, (5) systematic reviews and metanalyses (though these were searched to find eligible articles), (6) abstract alone, (7) non-randomized studies, and (8) no use of RT. Additionally, some relevant articles were included from the reference lists of selected PubMed papers. The studies were then reviewed by a senior author (NZ) and discussed among the group. Of the 389 articles, 373 studies were not eligible, resulting in 16 total studies that met the inclusion criteria [9–24].

Data abstraction and analysis

From the 16 studies, characteristics of patients (e.g. age, gender), cancer (e.g. disease site, stage), treatment (e.g. RT doses, chemotherapy), dietary intervention (e.g. vitamins, supplements), patient-reported outcomes (PROs), toxicity, and other outcomes were coded. Dietary interventions in a clinical setting sit within a comprehensive, individualized nutritional consultation which encompasses nutritional screening, anthropometry and review of the clinical picture and medical history. The key dietary interventions used are: dietary counselling (diet modification/fortification techniques/eating strategies), oral nutritional supplementation, and reactive nutritional support in the form of nasoenteric feeding, gastrostomy or jejunostomy tube feeding or total parenteral nutrition for cases where oral intake is not possible. Dietary interventions that involved a single supplement, such as amino acids or antioxidants, were coded as "micronutrient" interventions, while interventions changing the content of an entire meal, such as low fiber or fat, were coded as "macronutrient" interventions.

For objective 1, acceptability was defined as: (the number of patients agreeing to perform the dietary intervention + RT)/(the number of eligible participants). Feasibility was defined as: (number of patients who completed the dietary intervention + RT)/ (number agreeing to perform the dietary intervention + RT). There were four papers that did not report adherence [9,10,21,24]. Four papers reported a feasibility rate for those who completed the study, with compliance ranging from 9% to 93% [12,18,20,22]. The remaining studies only included data for participants who maintained a particular level of compliance, ranging from 33% to 100% [11,19,16,17]. For reference, all values are listed in Table 1.

For objective 2, we assessed patient reported outcomes, toxicities, and survival per the primary endpoint listed in each study (listed in Table 1). Toxicities were recorded using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) scale, attributable to the addition of the dietary modification, per the assessment of the authors of the primary study. QOL was most commonly measured pre- and post-treatment by the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Quality of Life Questionnaire- C30 (QLQ-C30) and QLQ-PR25. Adverse effects of RT were reported with Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG)

Table 1 Summary of studies evaluating RT +/- dietary interventions.

Author, Year	Cancer	Dietary Intervention vs Control Group	Concurrent Treatment (n)	Diet type (-molecule)	n control	n diet	n screened	n accepted (%)	n completed (%)	Primary endpoint(s)	Results of intervention vs control	
Rubio, 2013 [9]	Breast	Glutamine supplementation vs placebo	Tamoxifen (12) and/or chemotherapy (6)	Micro-	8	9	20	17 (85)	17 (100)	Skin radiation injury	Unclear improvement in cosmesis, patients receiving oral Gln scored an average of 0.9 ± 0.2 vs 1.4 ± 0.2 in the placebo group ($P < .05$).	
Fuchs-Tarkovsky, 2013 [10]	Cervical	Antioxidants (β - carotene, vitamin C/ E, selenium) vs placebo	Cisplatin (103)	Micro-	54	49	103	103 (100)	103 (100)	Oxidative stress, hematological toxicity, and QOL	Antioxidants improve QOL, but not other endpoints.	
Ishikawa, 2016	Esophageal	Amino acid-rich elemental diet vs oral rinse	Chemotherapy (17) + RT (16)	Micro-	16	17	NR	36 (NR)	33 (92)	Oral mucositis	Amino acid-rich elemental diet does not improve mucositis, sarcopenia.	
Bairati, 2005 [12], 2006 [13] Meyer, 2007 [14]	Head & neck	Vitamin E (α - tocopherol), β- carotene vs placebo	Pre-RT surgery (32)	Micro-	263	272	NR	540 (NR)	535 (99)	Occurrence and severity of acute effects of radiation therapy	α -tocopherol increases all-cause mortality β-carotene reduces mucositis and local recurrence	
Chung, 2016 [15]	Head & neck	Vitamin E (α - tocopherol) + C vs placebo	Chemotherapy (30)	Micro-	20	25	76	52 (68)	45 (87)	Xerostomia	Vitamin C + E reduce xerostomia acutely	
Imai, 2014 [16]	Head & neck	HMB/Arg/Gln vs none	Cisplatin (34)	Micro-	18	16	40	40 (100)	34 (85)	Grade 3 dermatitis	HMB/Arg/Gln did not prevent grade 3 dermatitis	
Vasson, 2014 [17]	Head & neck, esophagus	Arginine, omega-3 fatty acid, nucleotides- vs placebo	Surgery (unknown)	Micro-	13	15	47	37 (79)	28 (76)	Nutritional status, and functional capacity.	Arginine/omega-3/nucleotides improve weight loss, but do not improve mucositis, other outcomes.	
Demers, 2013 [18]	Mixed pelvic	Bacterial probiotics vs placebo	Surgery (81), chemotherapy (120)	Micro-	89	150	410	246 (60)	239 (97)	Diarrhea	Probiotics may reduce diarrhea.	
Garcia-Peris, 2016 [19]	Mixed GYN	Fiber (prebiotic) vs placebo	Surgery (38)	Macro-	18	20	47	46 (98)	38 (83)	Diarrhea/stool consistency	Fiber improves stool consistency and diarrhea.	
McGough, 2008 [20]	Mixed pelvic	Amino acid-based formula vs normal diet	Chemotherapy (18)	Micro-	25	25	77	50 (65)	50 (100)	Acute GI toxicity	Amino acid-based formula does not improve GI toxicity.	
Muecke, 2010 [21]	Mixed GYN	Selenium supplementation vs no supplementation	Surgery (81)	Micro-	42	39	108	81 (75)	81 (100)	Survival	Selenium does not impact survival.	
Wedlake, 2012 [22]	Mixed pelvic	Low fat diet vs modified fat diet vs normal fat diet	Chemotherapy (59)	Macro-	25	50	374	117 (31)	75 (64)	Acute GI toxicity (IBDQ)	Low or modified fat diet does improve GI toxicity	
Wedlake, 2017 [23]	Mixed pelvic	High-fiber diet vs habitual-fiber diet vs low-fiber diet	Chemotherapy (121)	Macro-	53	106	583	166 (28)	159 (96)	Acute and chronic GI toxicity (IBDQ)	High-fiber diet reduces acute* and chronic† GI toxicity	
Petterson, 2014 [24]	Prostate	Reduced insoluble dietary fiber, lactose, soluble fiber vs normal diet	Pre-RT endocrine therapy (69)	Macro-	55	51	142	130 (92)	106 (86)	GI toxicity (diarrhea, constipation, bloating, blood in stools), QOL	Dietary intervention does not change GI toxicity or QOL.	

^{*} Baseline to 5–7 weeks.
† 1 year after completion of RT.

Table 2Assessment of risk of bias of included studies.

	Selection bias (randomization)	Performance bias (blinding of subjects)	Detection bias (blinding of assessors)	Attrition bias (outcomes obtained)	Other biases (similar at baseline)
Rubio [9]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	NR
Pettersson [24]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus
Pettersson [30]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus
Bairati [12]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Bairati [13]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Chung [15]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Imai [16]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus
Meyer [14]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	Θ
Fuchs-Tarlovsky [10]	\oplus	\oplus	Θ	\oplus	NR
Garcia-Peris [31]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Garcia-Peris [19]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Muecke [21]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus
Demers [18]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus
Mcgough [20]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	Θ
Vasson [17]	\oplus	\oplus	\oplus	Θ	\oplus
Wedlake [22]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus
Wedlake [23]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	$\stackrel{-}{\oplus}$	\oplus
Ishikawa [11]	\oplus	Θ	Θ	\oplus	\oplus

^{⊕ =} Low risk of bias.

Acute Radiation Morbidity Scale and CTCAE questionnaires. Gastrointestinal (GI) adverse events were reported most commonly using the GI Side Effects Questionnaire [24], Inflammatory Bowel Disease-Questionnaire (IBD-Q) [25], and Vaizey Incontinence Questionnaire [26].

Assessment of the risk of bias

The risk of bias for each study included was assessed using the Cochrane's "Risk of Bias" Assessment Tool, which uses 6 domains to rank bias as low, medium, or high risk. These domains include: selection bias (i.e. use of randomization), performance bias (i.e. blinding of participants and study personnel), detection bias (i.e. blinding of outcome assessors), attrition bias (i.e. incomplete outcome data collection), reporting bias (i.e. selective reporting of some outcomes but not others, depending on the nature and direction of the results) and other additional sources of bias (i.e. dissimilarities in groups at baseline).

All 16/16 studies avoided biasing the selection process by randomizing the participants. 9/16 studies blinded participants, while 8/16 studies blinded the assessors. 15/16 studies avoided attrition bias by obtaining outcomes from more than 85% of their participants. Finally, 15/16 studies reported on similarity between groups at baseline. These findings are summarized in Table 2. A heterogeneity assessment was not performed because the measurement of endpoints varied among the included studies.

Results

Studies and patients

The 16 studies included in the analysis were published from 2005 to 2017 across 10 countries, including USA [9], Sweden [27], Canada [13,14], Korea [15], Japan [11,16], Mexico [10], Spain [19], Germany [21], France [17], and the UK [20,22,23]. In total, the 16 studies included 1567 patients, with 857 in the intervention groups and 710 in the control groups. The mean age of all participants was 61.7 years. Cancer types included were breast [9], prostate [27], head/neck [12–17], gynecological [10,19,21], mixed pelvic [18,20,22,23], and esophageal [11], with the largest percentage of papers focusing on head and neck cancers (6/16). Dietary

interventions were grouped into two categories, macronutrient (4/16 studies) and micronutrient (12/16).

Objective 1: Acceptability and feasibility of dietary interventions for patients receiving RT

All studies included the number of patients initially approached, except for four [9,10,14,16]. Among those that reported the number of patients approached, there were 2027 patients approached, of which 1661 accepted (81.9%); of these, 1543 (92.9%) completed the prescribed diet + RT course. From a cancer perspective, the studies looking at head/neck and gynecological cancers had the highest acceptability (100%), while studies examining prostate cancers had an acceptability of 91.5%. As a function of both cancer type and intervention type, the overall feasibility for all studies was >75%, with the exception of the 2012 study published by Wedlake et al., which reported an overall feasibility rate of 64%. In this study, compliance was >75% for the lowand moderate-fat intake group arms; however, the compliance for the normal fat diet was 21% and 0% for women and men, respectively. Participants in this group consumed less than the targeted fat intake. These results may be due to underreporting of fat intake. These results are summarized in Table 1.

Objective 2: Patient reported outcomes, toxicity, and survival of patients receiving dietary interventions during RT

Outcomes of interest

The most commonly reported patient reported outcomes were GI toxicity, diarrhea alone, and QOL. GI toxicity, as measured by standardized questionnaires such as IBD-Q, IBDQ-B, and RTOG, was improved in 1/4 studies [23], and unchanged in 3/4 studies [20,22,27]. In a mixed pelvic cancer population, neither an amino-acid supplementation nor a low-fat diet appeared to have any effect on GI toxicity [20,22]; however a high fiber diet appeared to improve GI toxicity in this population [23]. In the 2017 study published by Wedlake et al., the authors found that a high-fiber diet, in comparison to a low-fiber or habitual fiber diet, resulted in a significantly smaller change in IBDQ-B scores in patients receiving pelvic RT from before to after RT completion, indicating an improvement in GI toxicity scores. Diarrhea, as

 $[\]ominus$ = High risk of bias.

measured separately from other GI symptoms, was improved in 3/3 studies [18,19,21]. Muecke et al. found that supplementation with selenium improved diarrhea severity as measured by the NCI's Common Toxicity Criteria, though this was not the primary outcome of their study. Demer et al. and Garcia-Peres et al. found that probiotic and prebiotic supplements improve stool consistency as measured by the Bristol Stool Chart. QOL improved in 1/3 studies [10], and remained unchanged in 2/3 studies [17,27]. Fuchs-Tarlovsky et al. found that antioxidant supplementation improved QOL as measured by the EORTC QLQ-C30 in women with cervical cancer [10].

Outcomes as a function of dietary intervention type

The most common interventions were supplementation with antioxidants (5/16) [10.12–15], amino acids [11.16.17.20] and fiber [19,23,27]. Of the 5 studies that assessed antioxidant supplementation, only 2 found significant improvements in any outcomes [10,15]. Fuchs-Tarlovsky et al. found that QOL in patients with cervical cancer was significantly higher in the group receiving antioxidant supplementation compared to the control group, as measured by the EORTC QLQ-C30. Chung et al. found that vitamin C and E supplementation significantly reduced xerostomia in patients with head and neck cancer 6 months post-radiation as measured by a patient reported xerostomia questionnaire (mean reduction in score of 2.7) and an observer-rated xerostomia score (mean reduction in score of 1.3). Bairati et al. did not find any significant improvements; however, they did find a significant increase in all-cause mortality (HR = 1.38, 95% CI 1.03-1.85) in patients with head and neck cancers who took α -tocopherol, a type of vitamin E, with or without β-carotene supplements [13]. This data suggests that α-tocopherol increases all-cause mortality; no significant increase in mortality was seen, however, with the addition of β -carotene.

Of the 5 studies that used amino acid supplementation, 3 found significant improvements in any outcome [9,16,17]. Imai et al. found that amino acid supplementation significantly decreased the severity of dermatitis as measured by the CTCAE-4, whereas Vasson et al. found that amino acid supplementation significantly improved weight-loss when combined with omega-3 fatty acids [16,17]. Rubio et al. found that glutamine alone helped decrease skin toxicity as measured by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group in patients with breast cancer [9]. Amino acid supplementation did not have any effect on mucositis, sarcopenia, or GI toxicity across all studies [11,20].

Three studies evaluated fiber intake [19,23,27]. One study found that reduced fiber intake combined with a reduced lactose intake had no effect on GI toxicity as measured by the EORTC QLQ-30 and QLQ-PR25 at 12- or 24-months post radiation [27]. A second study found that a high fiber diet significantly improves GI toxicity as measured by the IBD-Q at the end of RT [22]. Taken together, these two studies suggest that a diet high in fiber may help decrease GI toxicity experienced by patients with mixed pelvic cancers immediately after RT, whereas a low-fiber intake will have no long-term impact on GI toxicity. The third study found that prebiotic supplementation resulted in decreased diarrhea as measured by the EORTC QLQ-C30 in patients with mixed gynecological cancers [19].

Outcomes as a function of disease site

Of the 16 studies, the most common cancers studied were gynecological [10,18–23], head and neck [12–17], GI [18,20,22–23], and prostate [18,20,27]. Five of the papers included patients with metastatic cancer [11,16,17]. Of the 7 studies looking at gynecological cancer patients, improvements were seen in diarrhea (3/7), GI toxicity (2/7) and QOL (1/7) [10,18,19,21-23]. Diarrhea and GI toxicity were improved by high-fiber diets, low-fat diets, probiotics, and selenium supplementation; however, most of these studies evaluated diarrhea as a secondary endpoint, and the strongest prospective evidence currently only exists for fiber [19,21–23]. Of the 5 studies looking at patients with head and neck cancer, improvements were seen in xerostomia (1/5), dermatitis (1/5), and weight-loss (1/5) [15–17]. Of the 4 studies looking at GI cancer patients, improvements were seen in GI toxicity (2/4) and diarrhea (1/4) through protective effects of dietary interventions [18,22,23]. GI toxicity was reduced in the population consuming high-fiber and low-fat diets [22,23]. These studies suggest a protective effect of high-fiber, low-fat diets and probiotics against GI toxicity and diarrhea in patients receiving RT for a cancer diagnosis. Of the 3 studies analyzing the effects of diet + RT on participants with prostate cancer, improvements were only seen in diarrhea (1/3) [18]. This was in patients taking probiotic supplements.

Survival

Adverse events due to dietary interventions were uncommon among the studies included in this review. Of those included, two studies assessed survival as an outcome. Bairati et al. reported an overall 38% increase in all-cause mortality (HR 1.38, 95% CI 1.03–1.85) for individuals who consumed $\alpha\text{-tocopherol}$ or $\beta\text{-carotene}$ alone, or in conjunction with other supplements [13]. Participants who reported use of $\alpha\text{-tocopherol}$ alone had the greatest increase in overall all-cause mortality (HR = 1.43, 95% CI 0.98–2.07). Second, Muecke et al. [21] found no difference in survival with the addition of selenium for gynecological cancer patients receiving RT.

Discussion

There are currently no guidelines recommending the integration of dietary modifications for patients receiving RT. This is the first review that provides some consensus in support of dietary modifications in reducing adverse toxicities experienced as a consequence of RT. We found that patients receiving RT are accepting of dietary interventions and that dietary studies have an acceptability rate of 82% and a high feasibility rate of 93%. However, there are limited data showing that any of these interventions improve toxicity. Further, no home-based dietary intervention improves survival.

There is level 1b evidence (randomized controlled trial with narrow confidence interval) that a high fiber diet improves RTrelated diarrhea. The amount of fiber considered a high fiber diet (>18 g/day), however, is lower than the recommended 25-30 g/day. The improvement in RT-related diarrhea is therefore more likely due to the nonstarch polysaccharides rather than the amount of fiber. There is level 2b evidence (individual cohort study) that a solution of proteins, lipids, and sugars may improve RT-related malnutrition and weight loss. This finding supports the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients which recommend a protein intake of 1.0-1.5 g/kg/day to maintain energy and substrate requirements [28]. There is also level 2b evidence that vitamin C and β-carotene may improve xerostomia, though studies using these interventions combined the drugs with vitamin E (tocopherol), which has been shown to increase the risk of cancer development, cancer recurrence, and all-cause mortality [29]. This suggests that vitamin E supplementation should be monitored in individuals at risk for cancer and undergoing treatment for cancer. Further testing should be done to determine the threshold above which vitamin E consumption increases risk for recurrence. No

Table 3Recommendations regarding dietary intervention during RT.

Condition	Associated Cancer	Evidence-based strategies to reduce effects	Patient Sample Size	Oxford Center of Evidence Based Medicine (CEBM) level of evidence
Diarrhea	Pelvic, GYN	High fiber diet (≥18 g NSP*/d) [19,23]	197	$1b^{\dagger}$
Malnutrition	Head & neck, esophagus	Enteral nutrition formula, which includes proteins, (e.g. L-arginine), lipids (e.g. eicosapentaenoic, docosahexaenoic acids), glucids (e.g. mono, disaccharides) and ribonucleotides [17]	28	2b [‡]
Xerostomia	Head & neck	Possible improvement with Vitamin C (50 mg/d) [15] and β -carotene (6 mg/day) [14] though the studies using them combined them with Vitamin E. Notably, RT + vitamin E + β -carotene has been shown to <i>increase</i> all cause mortality over RT alone [12,13]	580	$2b^{\ddagger}$

Non-starch polysaccharide.

dietary intervention for cancer patients receiving RT has been shown to improve survival (Table 3).

Quality of life affects patient treatment compliance and completion. Only one study in our review found a statistically significant increase in quality of life secondary to a dietary intervention. Donovan et al. found that prostate cancer patients who received RT initially had decreased quality of life measured by sexual function, bowel function, urinary voiding, and nocturia. Patients reported, however, recovery in these symptoms after six months of RT [30]. Similar improvements in quality of life after initial decreases with RT are seen in head and neck and breast cancer patients [31,32].

Weight loss in cancer patients is associated with an unfavorable prognosis, increased toxicity of anti-cancer treatments resulting in reductions or interruptions of scheduled treatment and reduced quality of life (ESPEN). Ishikawa et al. found a decrease in body mass index (BMI) and body fat mass (FM) after chemoradiation treatment. Lean body mass (LBM), however, increased in patients receiving Elental (amino-rich elemental diet) compared to patients receiving azulene oral rinse for oral mucositis. For head and neck cancer patients who received immunomodulating enteral nutrition (IEN), Vasson et al. reported statistically significant increases in weight, BMI, and LBM compared to patients receiving standard enteral nutrition (SEN). For malnourished patients, increases in weight, BMI, and LBM were seen with IEN and SEN. Wedlake et al. did not find a statistically significant different in body weight or BMI at baseline or at the end of RT for patients receiving low- or habitual-fiber diets but the difference in the change in BMI between groups was significant. We recommend future studies follow the ESPEN guidelines in reporting weight status as a measured outcome due to the effect on treatment prognosis.

While there is one published paper evaluating the nutritional recommendations for adult patients undergoing cancer treatment at NCCN-member institutions, no systematic review about dietary intervention specifically during RT exists. Other studies in our systematic review only involved a single study population. Champ et al. found that only four of 21 NCCN-member institutions provided nutritional guidelines - two recommended low-fat, highcarbohydrate diets with 5:1 and 6:1 carbohydrate to fat ratios, while the other two institutions recommended a 1:1 ratio of carbohydrate to fat, focusing on weight maintenance during treatment. Their findings are comparable to ours in that there is limited data and consensus of dietary recommendations for patients undergoing cancer treatment. Our work, however, expands to include micronutrient and specific RT-site recommendations as well as assesses the implementation potential of dietary interventions in RT oncology departments by reporting on acceptability, feasibility, and safety. In the "Clinical Guide to Oncology Nutrition," a chapter discusses the benefits of nutrition on radiation therapy and discusses the need for adequate caloric and protein intake, particularly focusing on supplementing a patient's specific deficiency to ameliorate or prevent side effects. The authors recommend glutamine and zinc sulfate supplementation, with evidence on minimization or prevention or mouth sores and mucositis and to help the return of taste, respectively, in head and neck cancer patients. It also discusses amifostine clinical trials that show infusions reduce the incidence of xerostomia and side effects in pelvic radiation [33].

This study is not without limitations. One limitation of this systematic review is the dearth of available literature regarding nutritional interventions for patients during RT. Only 19 papers encompassing 16 studies were published that met the inclusionary criteria for this systematic review. The included studies had small sample sizes and were predominantly limited to gynecological, head and neck, GI, and prostate cancer, with one study conducted in a breast cancer population. Individual studies varied in regards to: follow-up time, intervention type, cancer site and stage, patient demographics, and outcome measures used (i.e., quality of life is measured using different scales). Due to this heterogeneity, a meta-analysis could not be conducted and definitive conclusions cannot be drawn at this time. Further studies are needed to further elucidate the effect of various nutritional interventions on patient-reported and clinical outcomes in patients receiving chemotherapy.

Conclusion

This systematic review is the first summary of dietary interventions for cancer patients receiving RT. For patients with pelvic cancers, a high fiber diet may improve diarrhea [23]. Immunomodulating enteral nutrition formula, including proteins such as L-arginine, lipids such as eicosapentaenoic acids, glucids, and ribonucleotides may help prevent of malnutrition in head and neck cancer patients undergoing RT [17]. Lastly, vitamin C [15] and β -carotene [14] may reduce of xerostomia in head and neck cancer patients; however, the studies evaluating these vitamins included vitamin E, which increases all-cause mortality [12,13]. No dietary intervention for cancer patients receiving RT has been shown to improve survival. Future research is warranted to help establish evidence-based nutritional guidelines for oncologists and their patients with the goal of limiting RT toxicities.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

[†] Therapy/Prevention, Etiology/Harm: individual RCT (with narrow confidence interval).

[†] Therapy/Prevention, Etiology/Harm: individual cohort study (including low quality RCT; e.g., <80% follow-up).

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tipsro.2020.08.001.

References

- [1] Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin 2019;69 (1):7–34. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21551.
- [2] Yucel B, Akkaş EA, Okur Y, et al. The impact of radiotherapy on quality of life for cancer patients: a longitudinal study. Support Care Cancer. 2014;22 (9):2479–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-014-2235-y.
- [3] Montazeri A. Quality of life data as prognostic indicators of survival in cancer patients: an overview of the literature from 1982 to 2008. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2009;7(Dec):102. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-7-102.
- [4] Palmer JD, Soule BP, Simone BA, Zaorsky NG, Jin L, Simone NL. MicroRNA expression altered by diet: can food be medicinal? Ageing Res Rev 2014;17 (Sep):16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2014.04.005.
- [5] Klement RJ, Champ CE. Calories, carbohydrates, and cancer therapy with radiation: exploiting the five R's through dietary manipulation. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2014;33(1):217–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-014-9495-3.
- [6] Champ CE, Palmer JD, Volek JS, et al. Targeting metabolism with a ketogenic diet during the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurooncol 2014;117 (1):125–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-014-1362-0.
- [7] Champ CE, Mishra MV, Showalter TN, Ohri N, Dicker AP, Simone NL. Dietary recommendations during and after cancer treatment: consistently inconsistent? Nutr Cancer 2013;65(3):430–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01635581.2013.757629.
- [8] Leser M, Ledesma N, Bergerson S, Trujillo E. Oncology nutrition for clinical practice; 2013:272.
- [9] Rubio I, Suva LJ, Todorova V, et al. Oral glutamine reduces radiation morbidity in breast conservation surgery. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2013;37 (5):623-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148607112474994.
- [10] Fuchs-Tarlovsky V, Rivera MA, Altamirano KA, Lopez-Alvarenga JC, Ceballos-Reyes GM. Antioxidant supplementation has a positive effect on oxidative stress and hematological toxicity during oncology treatment in cervical cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2013;21(5):1359–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-012-1674-6.
- [11] Ishikawa T, Yasuda T, Doi T, et al. The amino acid-rich elemental diet Elental[®] preserves lean body mass during chemo- or chemoradiotherapy for esophageal cancer. Oncol Rep 2016;36(2):1093–100. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2016.4877.
- [12] Bairati I, Meyer F, Gélinas M, et al. Randomized trial of antioxidant vitamins to prevent acute adverse effects of radiation therapy in head and neck cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(24):5805–13. https://doi.org/10.1200/ ICO 2005.05.514.
- [13] Bairati I, Meyer F, Jobin E, et al. Antioxidant vitamins supplementation and mortality: a randomized trial in head and neck cancer patients. Int J Cancer 2006;119(9):2221-4. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22042.
- [14] Meyer F, Bairati I, Jobin E, et al. Acute adverse effects of radiation therapy and local recurrence in relation to dietary and plasma beta carotene and alpha tocopherol in head and neck cancer patients. Nutr Cancer 2007;59(1):29–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/01635580701397590.
- [15] Chung MK, Kim DH, Ahn YC, Choi JY, Kim EH, Son YI. Randomized trial of vitamin C/E complex for prevention of radiation-induced xerostomia in patients with head and neck cancer. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016;155 (3):423–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599816642418.
- [16] Imai T, Matsuura K, Asada Y, et al. Effect of HMB/Arg/Gln on the prevention of radiation dermatitis in head and neck cancer patients treated with concurrent

- chemoradiotherapy. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2014;44(5):422-7. https://doi.org/10.1093/iico/hyu027.
- [17] Vasson MP, Talvas J, Perche O, et al. Immunonutrition improves functional capacities in head and neck and esophageal cancer patients undergoing radiochemotherapy: a randomized clinical trial. Clin Nutr. 2014;33(2):204–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2013.06.008.
- [18] Demers M, Dagnault A, Desjardins J. A randomized double-blind controlled trial: impact of probiotics on diarrhea in patients treated with pelvic radiation. Clin Nutr 2014;33(5):761–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2013.10.015.
- [19] Garcia-Peris P, Velasco C, Hernandez M, et al. Effect of inulin and fructooligosaccharide on the prevention of acute radiation enteritis in patients with gynecological cancer and impact on quality-of-life: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Clin Nutr 2016;70(2):170-4. https://doi. org/10.1038/eicn.2015.192.
- [20] McGough C, Wedlake L, Baldwin C, et al. Clinical trial: normal diet vs. partial replacement with oral E028 formula for the prevention of gastrointestinal toxicity in cancer patients undergoing pelvic radiotherapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;27(11):1132–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2008.03665.x.
- [21] Muecke R, Micke O, Schomburg L, et al. Multicenter, phase III trial comparing selenium supplementation with observation in gynecologic radiation oncology: follow-up analysis of the survival data 6 years after cessation of randomization. Integr Cancer Ther 2014;13(6):463-7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534735414541963.
- [22] Wedlake LJ, McGough C, Shaw C, et al. Clinical trial: efficacy of a low or modified fat diet for the prevention of gastrointestinal toxicity in patients receiving radiotherapy treatment for pelvic malignancies. J Hum Nutr Diet 2012;25(3):247–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-277X.2012.01248.x.
- [23] Wedlake L, Shaw C, McNair H, et al. Randomized controlled trial of dietary fiber for the prevention of radiation-induced gastrointestinal toxicity during pelvic radiotherapy. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;106(3):849–57. https://doi.org/ 10.3945/ajcn.116.150565.
- [24] Pettersson A, Turesson I, Persson C, Johansson B. Assessing patients' perceived bother from the gastrointestinal side effects of radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: initial questionnaire development and validation. Acta Oncol 2014;53(3):368–77. https://doi.org/10.3109/0284186X.2013.819994.
- [25] Guyatt C, Mitchell A, Irvine EJ, et al. A new measure of health status for clinical trials in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 1989;96(3):804–10.
- [26] Vaizey CJ, Carapeti E, Cahill JA, Kamm MA. Prospective comparison of faecal incontinence grading systems. Gut 1999;44(1):77–80. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.44.1.77.
- [27] Pettersson A, Nygren P, Persson C, Berglund A, Turesson I, Johansson B. Effects of a dietary intervention on gastrointestinal symptoms after prostate cancer radiotherapy: long-term results from a randomized controlled trial. Radiother Oncol 2014;113(2):240–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2014.11.025.
- [28] Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V, et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr 2017;36(1):11–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2016.07.015.
- [29] Klein EA, Thompson IM, Tangen CM, et al. Vitamin E and the risk of prostate cancer: the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT). JAMA 2011;306(14):1549–56. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.1437.
- [30] Donovan JL, Hamdy FC, Lane JA, et al. Patient-reported outcomes after monitoring, surgery, or radiotherapy for prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2016;375(15):1425–37. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1606221.
- [31] Dow KH, Lafferty P. Quality of life, survivorship, and psychosocial adjustment of young women with breast cancer after breast-conserving surgery and radiation therapy. Oncol Nurs Forum 2000;27(10):1555–64.
- [32] Jellema AP, Slotman BJ, Doornaert P, Leemans CR, Langendijk JA. Impact of radiation-induced xerostomia on quality of life after primary radiotherapy among patients with head and neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007;69(3):751-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.04.021.
- [33] Elliott L, Molseed L, McCallum P, Grant B. Clinical guide to oncology nutrition. 2nd ed.: 2006.